15698

CASE NO. 86-9730 (CL) N

APPEAL NO. 69,827

FL. BAR NO. 003765

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was initiated by the Appellee for judicial validation of its \$317,000,000.00 Bond Issue.

Appellant filed an Answer and Affirmative Pleadings alleging misrepresentation.

The Trial Court approved the validation of the Bond Issue and struck the Affirmative Defenses of the Appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 16, 1986, the Appellee filed a Complaint seeking to validate a bond issue in the amount of \$317,000,000.00 (A 1), and an Order to Show Cause was issued requiring all intervenors appear on the 19th day of November, 1986, and show cause why the Bond Issue should not be validated (A 2).

The Appellant filed an Answer denying that the Bond Issue was approved at a Bond Referendum in accordance to the requirements of the Constitution and Laws of the State of Florida; denied authority was conferred to issue the bonds for the purpose of financing the cost of the Project; denied that all resolutions and proceedings required to authorize the bonds were legally adopted (A 3).

Affirmative Defenses were also included in the Appellant's Answer (A 3). The Affirmative Defenses alleged that the Appellee failed to make disclosures that would have reduced the need for the \$317,000,000.00 Bond Issue; and that the voters would not have voted in favor of the Bond Issue if disclosures that substantial portions of Appelee's construction needs as published were already funded and completed (A 3). Also, that the Appellee knew such disclosures would defeat the Bond Referendum (A 3).

On November 19, 1986, the lower court was advised at the hearing that misrepresentations were contained in Exhibits attached to the Appellee's Complaint and therefore ordered an Evidentiary Hearing on December 1, 1986, (A 4, L 21, A 5 & 6).

At the Evidentiary Hearing, the Appellant was restricted to just 3 witnesses selected from a total of 28 (A 7).

The Appellee's Superintendant admitted that more than \$200,000,000.00 was on hand in an investment fund at the time it published its needs for \$317,000,000.00 (A 8, L 19-25 and A 9, L 7 & 8). Appellee's resolution disclosed a total need of \$678,000,000.00 and assets of \$361,000,000.00

leaving a balance of \$317,000,000.00 for a bond issue (A 10). However, no part of the \$200,000,000.00 plus investment fund was included in the assets of \$361,000,000.00 (A 10).

In addition to the ommission of the investment fund the Appellee did not credit any portion of a surplus fund of 45,000,000.00 (A 11,L16 & 17 and A 12, L 1-18).

Further, Appellee understated part of its assets in arriving at its need for a \$317,000,000.00 Bond Issue by 100% (A 13, L 6-25, A 14 and A 15).

Resolution 86-1 which was not published, differs from Resolution 86-3 that was alleged in paragraph 3 of Appellee's Complaint as being published (A 1, A 10 & A 17).

The lower court granted Appellee's Motion to Strike the Affirmative Defenses of Appellant and validated the Bond Issue (A 16, L 16-21).

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING APPELLANT/INTERVENOR'S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

In its Order, (A19), the Trial Court relied upon a plethora of caselaw regarding the raising of collateral matters as defense to a complaint for Bond Validation. However, what the court failed to recognize was that Appellant/ Intervenor, LODWICK, raised the Affirmative Defense of fraud and misrepresentation by the School District of Palm Beach County.

It was stated in <u>Town of Medley v. State</u>, 162 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1964), that

"(the courts) have consistently ruled that questions of business policy and judgment incident to the issuance of revenue issues are beyond the scope of judicial interference and are the responsibility and perogative of the governing body of the governmental unit <u>in the absence of fraud</u> or violation of legal duty". (emphasis added).

Id., at 258, 259.

In the instant case, as the Affirmative Defenses (A 3) indicate, the School Board had ready access to funds which they failed to disclose to the voters. According to the testimony of DR. HENRY BOEKHOFF, Associate Superintendent of Administration for the School Board of Palm Beach County, there were numerous figures deleted from consideration in arriving at the final overall financial need. Among those were the earnings on capital funds for 1986, (A 90, L 9-14), and ten million eight hundred thousand (\$10,800,000.00) dollars of unencumbered cash surplus, (A 94, L 1-9). There was an indication that other amounts were deleted, but the records indicating whether amounts encumbered for completed construction work were included in the final bond request were not produced by the Plaintiff at trial. (A 103-104, L 21-6). As such, the failure by the School Board to present this information prior to the general election evidences the fraudulent manner in which the end result was achieved.

All of the allegations contained in the Affirmative Defenses (A 3), raised significant issue which were not "collateral matters" as found by the Trial Court. Appellant/Intervenor was not seeking an adjudication on issues dealing with the School Board's findings in relation to the financial feasability of the construction of schools and improvements for the school district, only that certain material facts and figures were deleted from the presentation to the voters. As noted in State v. City of Daytona Beach, 158 So. 300 (Fla. 1934), "[q]uestions of business policy are therefore beyond the scope of judicial interference unless some charge of negligence, fraud, or violation of legal duty is made a predicate for the attack". (emphasis added). Id., at 305.

As indicated, the Appellant/Intervenor's allegations centered upon the concealment of vital statistics and facts. The court is the proper authority to deal with these matters, otherwise administrative hearings, such as before the School Board, would create the final word in this matter. There would be no recourse for a wrongfully discharged verdict by the School Board, and as an obviously prejudiced party, Appellant/Intervenor would be denied due process.

The Trial Court's Finding as to collateral matters is clearly erroneous and must be reversed on appeal. There was sufficient allegations presented to support Appellant/Intervenor's position, and as such must be given proper adjudicatory proceedings to resolve the issues.

ISSUE II

THE APPELLEE/PLAINTIFF SCHOOL DISTRICT FAILED TO SUBSTANTIALLY COMPLY WITH THE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION SCHOOL BONDS

According to Section 236.37 (3), Fla. Stat. (1985), it is required that the School Board "...adopt and transmit to the Department of Education a resolution setting forth the proposals with reference to the projects and proposed plan for financing the projects...". This mandatory procedure was accomplished by the Appellee School Board when it filed Amended Resolution 86-1

(A10).

The next step in the pre-validation procedure is approval by the Department of Education and a resolution by the school district authorizing that an election be held. (See Section 236.37 (3), Fla. Stat. (1985).). Amended Resolution 86-1 was approved by the Commissioner of Education on June 6, 1986. However, the publication required by Section 236-38, Fla. Stat. (1985), was not satisfied. The School Board published Resolution 86-3 (A17), which was not approved by the Department of Education.

"Where bonds of a governmental subdivision are to be issued by administrative officers under statutory authority, the requirements of the statute conferring the authority must be substantially complied with in all material particulars or the bonds will not be valid...".

McSwain v. Special Road and Bridge District No. 2 Desoto County, 88 So. 479 (Fla. 1921). (See also: City of Miami v. Romfh, 63 So. 440 (Fla. 1913); Hills-borough County v. Henderson, 33 So. 997 (Fla. 1903); Special Tax School District No. 1 of Duval County v. State, 123 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 1960).).

The terminology in Resolution 86-3 (A17), makes specific reference to Amended Resolution 86-1 (A10), but in review of both, there are substantial differences between them. The voters never had the opportunity to review Amended Resolution 86-1 as same was never published. Section 236.38, Fla. Stat. (1985), specifically states that the approved resolution be published for four (4) successive weeks prior to the election. The mandatory term "shall" found in Section 236.38, Fla. Stat. (1985), leaves absolutely no discretion to the School Board. As such, there has been an unauthorized publication of an unapproved resolution in direct contravension of the statutes. This clearly provides sufficient support for the reversal of the Trial Court's ruling, and must be recognized as such by this Court.

ISSUE III

THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE PRODUCED REGARDING THE REQUIRED CERTIFICATION OF THE RESULTS OF THE BOND ELECTION

According to Section 100.351, Fla. Stat. (1985), it is mandatory that the election supervisor certify the results of the referendum election and enter those results with the Department of State. The only documentary evidence that purports to satisfy this requirement was a Resolution by the School Board which matter-of-factly indicated that a majority of voters voted in favor of the bond issuance.

The foregoing document was used to support paragraph 5 of the Complaint (A 1), and as such was put in issue by Defendant State and Defendant/Intervenor's Answers. (A 3). A demand for strict proof of the certification and canvassing of the results of the election was never complied with by the School Board, and merely glanced over by the Trial Court.

When, as here, there is a mere tracking of the necessary statutory language and procedure without any proof to support those contentions, there appears to be a miscarriage of justice. The School Board had the burden of producing evidence to support the validity of its resolution, as well as compliance with the statutory mandates. Their failure to do so has left the Appellant/Intervenor in a posistion to disprove conclusions which were never supported by evidence or testimony. Statutes and caselaw set forth mandatory compliance, not selective compliance, and as such the burden is upon the School Board to come forward with a full arsenal to show that everything was done pursuant to law. This was not done, accordingly this cause must be reversed.

ISSUE IV

THE STATE ATTORNEY FAILED TO ACTIVELY CONTEST THE VALIDATION PROCEEDINGS

In the bond validation proceedings, it is encumbent upon the State through the State Attorney to "...show why the Complaint should not be granted and the proceedings and bonds or certificates validated". Section 75.05 (1), Fla. Stat. (1985). This appears to mandate the State Attorney to actively contest the issues raised and to ascertain full compliance with statutory requirements by the entity seeking the validation. -4-

In the instant case, the State Attorney for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit filed an Answer (A 18) indicating that strict proof of the statements in the Complaint (A 1), was necessary. However, at trial there was no active involvement by the State. There was complacency on the part of the State, and a willingness to stipulate to many facts that had been previously under attack.

In their cross-examination of Dr. Boekhoff, and with the knowledge of the Appellant/Intervenor's defenses, nothing was adduced from the witness that would indicate the State's defense against the validation. (See A 59-61, L 1-11). The only information ascertained from Dr. Boekhoff was that the monies sought through the bond issue would expedite construction of schools that were planned over a five-year period. Nothing went to the issues of the validity of the adoption of the resolution, or anything which was previously contested in the Answer to the Complaint.

The State Attorney represented the citizens of Palm Beach County, and as such was cloaked with the authority to act in their best interest. It was his duty to actively contest and concern himself with the pressing issues of the case. To fail in this duty, he did a disservice to those citizens. As such, by his complacency, the School Board was able to manipulate the Trial Court and achieve their desired goal without having to rebut defenses previously set forth by the State. This was clearly an error on the part of the State Attorney and shows additional prejudice to the Appellant/Intervenor at the trial level.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments, it is imperative that this Honorable Court reverse the Trial Court's rulings and allow further proceedings to be had in this cause.