IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 69,827

RICHARD LODWICK,

Defendant/Intervenor,
Appellant

V.

SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PALM BEACH
COUNTY, FLORIDA, A POLITICAL
SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF
FLORIDA,
Plaintiff, Appellee.

)

Proceedings on Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, SCHOOL DISTRICT OF PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

RICHARD L. OFTEDAL

General Counsel,
School Board of Palm
Beach County

3323 Belvedere Road
Building 503, Room 232

West Palm Beach, Florida 33402

(305) 684-5080

ROBERT O. FREEMAN
Freeman, Richardson, Watson
& Kelly, P.A.
1200 Barnett Bank Building
Jacksonville, Florida 32202

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Intervenor has failed to point to any reversible error of the circuit court in striking the Intervenor's affirmative defenses and validating the Bonds. The affirmative defenses relate solely to questions about the need for the Project and the manner of its financing. The authority to determine such matters is by statute vested in the School Board as the legislative body of the District. Such matters are not adjudicable in a validation proceeding.

The Intervenor argues, for first time on appeal, that the School Board perpetrated a fraud upon the voters by not advertising the District's year-end fund balances in connection with the bond referendum. The Intervenor failed to state a prima facie case or proffer evidence of any fraud in the proceedings below. The ciruit court therefore acted properly in striking the Intervenor's affirmative defenses.

The School Board complied with all statutory publication requirements with respect to the bond referendum. Sufficient information was available to the voters in order for them to make an intelligent exercise of their voting franchise.

The School Board satisfied the requirements of chapter 236, Florida Statutes, in publishing the resolution described in section 236.38 (Resolution 86-3, the resolution authorizing a bond election) rather than the resolution described in section 236.37 (Amended Resolution 86-1, the resolution required to be forwarded to the Department of Education).

The School District introduced unrebutted testimonial and documentary evidence that the results of the bond referendum were duly certified by the Supervisor of Elections of Palm Beach County to the Department of State in accordance with section 100.351, Florida Statutes.

The Assistant State Attorney completely and faithfully discharged his statutory duties in representing the interests of the citizens and taxpayers of Palm Beach County in the validation proceedings below. Once the assistant state attorney determined that the School District had proven its case for validation and that the Intervenor's affirmative defenses went only to collateral matters, he correctly declined to further defend against validation.

The circuit court's order striking the Intervenor's affirmative defenses and its final judgment validating the Bonds should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH LAW IN GRANTING SCHOOL DISTRICT'S MOTION TO STRIKE INTERVENOR'S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES
  - A. INTERVENOR'S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES GO TO LEGISLATIVE MATTERS WHICH ARE OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF VALIDATION PROCEEDINGS

The scope of a validation proceeding is very narrowly limited to matters affecting the authority of the governmental unit to issue the bonds and the regularity of the proceedings had in connection with the authorization of the bonds. Most recently, in <u>Taylor v. Lee County</u>, 11 Fla. L.W. 623, 624, No. 69,174 (Fla. Dec. 4, 1986), this court stated:

The scope of judicial inquiry in bond validation proceedings is limited. Specifically, the courts should: 1) determine if a public body has the authority to issue the subject bonds; 2) determine if the purpose of the obligation is legal; and 3) ensure that the authorization of the obligations complies with the requirements of law.

This court has consistently held that legislative matters, such as the need for a particular capital project and the manner of its financing, are not to be adjudicated in a validation proceeding. Such matters lie within the province of the legislative body of the governmental unit. See DeSha v. City of Waldo, 444 So.2d 16, 18 (Fla. 1984) (question of need for project is matter to be determined by governing body); Town of Medley v. State, 152 So.2d 257, 259 (Fla. 1964) ("questions of business

policy and judgment incident to issuance of [bonds] are beyond the scope of judicial interference and are the responsibility and prerogative of the governing body of the governmental unit in the absence of fraud or violation of legal duty"); Taylor v. Lee County, 11 Fla. L.W. 623, 624, No. 69,174 (Fla. Dec. 4, 1986) ("collateral issues will not be resolved in bond validation proceedings"); State v. City of Daytona Beach, 431 So.2d 981, 983 (Fla. 1983) (validation proceeding is improper forum for inquiry into economic feasibility of project); Penn v. Pensacola-Escambia Governmental Center Auth., 311 So.2d 97, 102 1975) (in bond validation proceeding, court is not concerned with "political and policy considerations within the legislative spheres of authority," or with the "political or economic wisdom of the project proposed to be financed with the proceeds of the bonds"); State v. City of Miami, 103 So.2d 185, 189 (Fla. 1958) (chapter 75, Florida Statutes, does "not contemplate that collateral matters shall be adjudicated in validating bonds").

Underlying the Intervenor's affirmative defenses is a single contention—that the School Board (and the DOE) improperly determined that the Bonds are necessary to assure adequate funding for the District's planned capital expansion program (the "Project"). In Paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 and 10 of his affirmative defenses, the Intervenor contends that the bond issue is unnecessary because the School District had sufficient funds on hand at the close of its 1986 fiscal year to pay a substantial

part of the cost of the Project. In Paragraphs 3, 6, 7, and 8, the Intervenor alleges that the bond issue is unnecessary because portions of the Project had already been constructed or "funded." These arguments relate solely to matters to be determined legislatively by the School Board as the governing body of the School District.

Chapter 236, Florida Statutes, vests the authority to determine the need for capital projects and the manner of their financing in the School Board, as the governing body of a District, with provision for oversight and review by the State Department of Education. Section 236.37(1) provides in part that the "school board... shall determine whether in its opinion the projects for which bonds are proposed to be issued are essential for the school program of the district." (Emphasis added.) Section 236.37(3) provides in part that the school board, after taking into account the current funds, projected proceeds of any special district millage, and the availability of any loans against current funds, "shall then determine the amount of bonds necessary to be issued to complete the projects as proposed for the district...."

Chapter 236 further provides a check on the School District's discretion to determine the need to issue bonds by mandating that "[i]f the [State Department of Education] shall determine that the issuance of bonds as proposed is unnecessary or is unnecessary in the amount and according to the plan proposed ..., the school board shall then amend its resolution to

conform to the recommendation of the department .... Fla. Stat. §236.37(3). The School Board's determination of the amount of bonded indebtedness needed to be incurred to finance the Project, as expressed in Amended Resolution 86-1 (A-1), was approved by the Department of Education (A-1, p.6) based on the Department's independent study. The trial court was therefore eminently correct in declining to second-guess the determinations made by the School Board and the Department of Education in performing the functions assigned to them by the Florida Legislature.

Meetings of the School Board, rather than proceedings before judicial tribunals, provided the proper opportunity for this Intervenor to question and influence the business and policy judgments to be made about how to finance the needed capital improvements of the School District. Yet the Intervenor made no attempt either to appear before the School Board or to confer with its administrative staff prior to the bond referendum. (A-18, p.71, lines 1-6) Instead, the Intervenor sat silently throughout the legislative process and voiced his objection to the financing plan only in these validation proceedings. implication of the Intervenor's foregoing the several opportunities afforded by law to influence the legislative decisionmaking process in favor of interposing collateral issues in the validation proceeding is that the Intervenor's motive is only to delay the issuance of the Bonds, at great cost to the taxpayers of the School District. The Intervenor should not be afforded any opportunity to further delay the issuance of the Bonds.

court in DeSha v. City of Waldo, 444 So.2d 16 (1984) rejected the appellant's argument that the trial court erred in excluding their "proffered evidence concerning the necessity for and reasonableness of the project" and in "denying them a continuance for the purpose of developing further evidence on these issues." Id. at 18. The court reasoned that the question of the need for the project was "a matter to be determined by the governing body of that community." In Rianhard v. Port of Palm Beach District, 186 So2d 503, 504-505 (Fla. 1966), this court upheld the exercise of the discretion of a circuit court in deciding not to hold further hearings after affording the intervenors opportunity at the initial hearing to proffer evidence in support of their allegations. The Intervenor in these proceedings was given ample opportunity to marshal evidence in support of his affirmative defenses. evidence he proffered simply did not substantiate his allegations, and the trial court correctly responded by striking his affirmative defenses.

B. INTERVENOR'S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES FAILED TO STATE ANY LEGAL DEFENSE TO VALIDATION AND WERE THEREFORE INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW; HIS ALLEGATION OF FRAUD IS MERITLESS

No legal defense to the Complaint for validation was stated in any of the Intervenor's Affirmative Defenses (A-10). The School District, therefore, timely moved to strike those defenses (A-12). In hearings on November 19 and December 1, 1986, the trial court afforded the Intervenor ample opportunity to present argument and proffer evidence in support of his defenses. The court then entered an order granting the motion to strike the affirmative defenses (A-15) and rendered its final judgment validating the bonds (A-16).

On appeal, the Intervenor argues for the first time that the School District perpetrated a "fraud" upon the voters by not including in the resolutions advertising the bond referendum any information regarding the monies held in restricted accounts of the Board. The Intervenor repeatedly refers to this aggregate year-end balance of \$200,000,000 as money available for Project costs when the record testimony of the Associate Superintendent of Administration was that these monies were restricted to specified uses and unavailable as an alternative source to the proceeds of the bonds as a means of financing the Project. (A-19, p.115, lines 15-21)

The Intervenor urges that, as a result of such "fraud," the information available to the voters of the District when the subject bond issue was approved by a nearly 2-1 margin on

September 30, 1986 was somehow insufficient. By predicating this appeal upon newly raised and unsupported allegations of fraud, the Intervenor has improperly attempted to elevate his political objections to the School District's proposed capital financing plan to the level of a question that might be adjudicated in a validation proceeding. Presumably, the Intervenor asks this court to set aside the results of the bond election.

The Intervenor failed, however, either (1) to state a prima facie case in fraud or, more importantly, (2) to proffer any evidence tending to show that such a case could be established. The Intervenor also failed to demonstrate that the information made available to the electors of Palm Beach County through the publication of Resolution No. 86-3 and otherwise did not satisfy the requirements for publication of notice as set forth in sectin 236.38, Florida Statutes.

Sufficient Information Was Available to the Voters.

This court in Grapeland Heights Civic Assoc. v. City of Miami,

267 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1972) confronted a contention similar to that
of this Intervenor—that the voters were not provided adequate
information about the project before the bond referendum was
held. The language used by this court in considering and
dismissing that argument in Grapeland Heights is equally dispositive in this case:

It is also contended that the electors were not given adequate information on the projects. This argument is equally without merit. The 14-page proposal before the Commission was a public record, spelling out

in detail each project (park) by listing its location and estimated cost (thus the precise total of \$39,890,000). The public media, utilizing various means of communication and fulfilling its public trust to inform and to report events and community concerns, fully advised the voters on all different aspects of the bond issue ....

The presentations in the proposal for the bonds were approved "in the sunshine" by the City Commission, and having been widely publicized by an informed and civic-minded media, as mentioned above, we can only conclude that there was ample public knowledge of the projects involved, sufficient for an intelligent exercise by the public of its very important franchise.

#### Id. at 324 (footnote omitted).

The matters considered by the School Board were matters of public record and as such were available for public inspection. Resolution 86-3 (A-2) was approved by the School Board in an open meeting and was published in the local newspaper prior to the bond referendum in the form of a full-page advertisement on August 25 and in the form of a legal notice on September 1, 8, 15, 22, and 29. (A-3)

Resolution 86-3 clearly shows both the proposed Project to be built with the proceeds of the Bonds and the details of the proposed financing plan. (A-2, pp.2-3) This construction program and its manner of financing was developed by the District and confirmed by the State Department of Education (A-1, p.6), based on the DOE's independent study, and was approved by the voters at the bond referendum. (A-4, p.2) Because all the information about the financial resources of the School District are matters

of public record, all relevant facts were available to the voters at the time the Bonds were approved.

The Intervenor Failed to Plead Fraud Or to Show Fraud Could Be Proven. The courts have consistently treated allegations of fraud--going as they do to basic notions of truth, honesty, and fair play--with utmost strictness. Fraud is never presumed. Barrett v. Quesnel, 90 So.2d 706, 706 (Fla. 1956). Indeed, there is a presumption against the existence of fraud. Headley v. Pelham, 366 So.2d 60, 63 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). Thus Rule 1.120(b), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, provides that "[i]n all averments of fraud ..., the circumstances constituting fraud ... shall be stated with such particularity as the circumstances may permit." The elements of actionable fraud were most recently articulated by this court in Lance v. Wade, 457 So.2d 1008, 1011 (Fla. 1984).

The Intervenor did not raise the issue of fraud in any of the affirmative defenses stated in his Answer. The word "fraud" does not even appear anywhere in Intervenor's Answer. Indeed, in a colloquy with the trial judge in open court, Intervenor's attorney admitted that fraud was not an issue below. When asked by the trial court whether it was the Intervenor's contention that a "fraud" had been "placed upon the public," counsel replied in the negative, "I think fraud is rather strong ...." (A-17, p.27, lines 14-15) When the Intervenor was asked in his deposition whether he was alleging that the School Board had deceived the DOE, the Intervenor responded, "You know, I'm not

accusing anybody of intentionally doing something here ...."

(A-18, p.46, lines 3-4) Nevertheless, Intervenor insists for the first time on appeal that fraud be made an issue.

The Intervenor failed to produce any evidence of one false statement by the School Board in connection with its findings of necessity both for the Project and for the issuance of the Bonds as a means of financing part of the cost of the Project. Indeed, the Intervenor failed to convince the trial court that the Intervenor had knowledge of any fact or circumstance which would even suggest the existence of fraud. The Intervenor's confessed lack of knowledge of any facts supporting his affirmative defenses, as disclosed in his deposition (A-18, p.19, line 17, through p.20, line 1), should be the beginning and end of the inquiry into the issue of "fraud," raised for the first time in this appeal.

II. THE SCHOOL DISTRICT COMPLIED WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 236, FLORIDA STATUTES, RESPECTING PUBLICATION OF THE RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A BOND ELECTION AND THE NOTICE OF ELECTION

Section 236.38, Florida Statutes, requires publication of the resolution calling the bond referendum as part of the process of notifying the electors of the issue to be presented to them. The School Board complied with the requirements of section 235.38 by causing Resolution 86-3 (A-2), authorizing a bond election and providing a notice of election, to be published in the manner prescribed by that section. (A-3) The Intervenor argues that in publishing Resolution 86-3 rather than Amended Resolution 86-1, the School District failed to follow the procedural requirements of chapter 236, Florida Statutes. The Intervenor's argument is premised upon a misreading of the publication requirements of chapter 236.

Section 236.38 provides in part that "when the resolution authorizing an election has been adopted as set forth above, [it shall be the duty of the school board] to cause such resolution to be published once each week for 4 successive weeks in some newspaper published in the district." (Emphasis added.) This court construed identical language in an earlier version of this portion of chapter 236 in Board of Public Instruction of Lake

County v. State, 119 So.2d 683 (Fla. 1960), and declared that chapter 236 only requires "publication of the bond election resolution rather than the original resolution .... The statute does not require the original resolution proposing the bond issue to

be published." Id. at 688.

At trial, the School District introduced unrebutted evidence that Resolution 86-3 (A-2), which included a Notice of Election as prescribed in section 236.39 and permitted by section 236.38, was published in the manner prescribed by section 236.38. (A-19, p.58) In publishing Resolution 86-3, the School District completely satisfied its statutory obligations respecting publication of the resolution authorizing a bond election and the notice of election.

Furthermore, the information provided to the voters in Resolution 86-3 was at least as comprehensive as the information that would have been provided by publication of Amended Resolution 86-1. The financial figures and the descriptions of the various parts of the Project contained in Resolution 86-3 are identical to those presented in Amended Resolution 86-1.

# III. THE SCHOOL DISTRICT COMPLIED WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF LAW RESPECTING THE CERTIFICATION OF ELECTION RESULTS

The Intervenor urges that the School District failed to state a prima facie case for validation by failing to plead and prove that the Supervisor of Elections of Palm Beach County complied with section 100.351, Florida Statutes, requiring certification of the election results to the Department of State. The School District contended below, as it does in this appeal, that, pursuant to section 100.291, Florida Statutes, the admission in evidence of the resolution canvassing the election results (A-4) served as prima facie evidence that the Bonds were duly approved by the electors. The Intervenor waived objection to the authenticity of the copy of that resolution received in evidence. (A-18, p.5, lines 2-17)

Assuming for the sake of argument the correctness of the Intervenor's contention, the Assistant Supervisor of Elections for Palm Beach County testified that the subject certificate had been filed. (A-19, pp.229-31) Plaintiff's Composite Exhibit "H" (A-14) demonstrates that the certificate of the county canvassing board was duly transmitted to the Department of State.

IV. THE ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY FULFILLED HIS STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES IN REPRESENTING THE INTERESTS OF THE TAXPAYERS AND CITIZENS

The assistant state attorney in this case competently and completely discharged his duties as prescribed in section 75.05, Florida Statutes. He timely filed an Answer to the School District's Complaint for validation, denied personal knowledge of the facts stated therein, and demanded strict proof thereof.

(A-9) He was present throughout the trial, representing the interests of the citizens and taxpayers, as mandated by chapter 75, Florida Statutes.

At the hearing of November 19, 1986, the School District moved to introduce in evidence certain documents comprising its prima facie case for validation (A-17, p.24, line 24, through p.25, line 19). The assistant state attorney joined the Intervenor in opposing such introduction without an opportunity for the Intervenor to proffer evidence tending to disprove the truth of the matters asserted in the documents. (A-17, p.26, line 19, though p.27, line 8) After considering the proffers of evidence by the Intervenor in the subsequent proceedings held on December 1, 1986, the assistant state attorney announced his decision not to defend further against validation by joining in the School District in its motion to strike. (A-19, p.220, line 21; pp.238-39. The assistant state attorney stated that the evidence proffered by the Intervenor failed to support any allegation of fraud. (A-19, p.238, line 11, through 239, line 15)

#### V. CONCLUSION

In this appeal, the Intervenor has failed to point to any reversible error of the trial court. "The judgment of validation ... comes to [the supreme court] with a presumption of correctness, and the burden is on the appellant to point out from the record the failure of the evidence to support the conclusions of the issuing authority and of the trial court." International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers v. Jacksonville Port Auth., 424 So.2d 753, 755 (Fla. 1982).

The legal arguments presented by the Intervenor in this appeal are as meritless as the defenses to validation raised in the proceedings below. The judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

ROBERT O. FREEMAN
Freeman, Richardson, Watson
& Kelly, P.A.
1200 Barnett Bank Building
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 353-1264

RICHARD L. OFTEDAL
General Counsel,
School Board of Palm
Beach County
3323 Belvedere Road
Building 503, Room 232
West Palm Beach, Florida 33402
(305) 684-5080

Attorneys for Appellee, School District of Palm Beach County